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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 

 

JONATHAN HOROWITZ and 

DALIT COHEN, on behalf of 

themselves and all others similarly 

situated,    

                           

                             Plaintiffs,  

             v. 

 

NEUTROGENA CORPORATION,  

                             Defendant. 

 

 

 

 Case No.  

 

 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

 

Demand for Jury Trial 

 

  

 Plaintiffs Jonathan Horowitz and Dalit Cohen (“Plaintiffs”) bring this Class 

Action Complaint against Defendant Neutrogena Corporation (“Defendant”), 

individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, and complain and allege 

upon personal knowledge as to themselves and their own acts and experiences and, as 

to all other matters, upon information and belief, including investigation conducted 

by their attorneys: 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This is a civil class action brought by Plaintiffs on behalf of all consumers 

who purchased Neutrogena Healthy Skin Firming Cream with Broad Spectrum (SPF 

15) (the “Product”) for normal, household use. Plaintiffs seek damages and equitable 

remedies for themselves and the putative Class.  

2. The Product is defective because, undisclosed to consumers, it contains 

benzophenone, a harmful chemical, known carcinogen, and endocrine disruptor. The 
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presence of benzophenone is caused by the Product’s formulation, which uses 

octocrylene as an active ingredient. Octocrylene is a chemical that degrades over time, 

and this process causes an accumulation of benzophenone.  

3. The presence of benzophenone has been demonstrated in animal testing 

to lead to higher rates of cancer, including leukemia. Benzophenone can be absorbed 

into the human body when applied topically.  

4. Defendant gained consumers’ trust over the course of several decades, 

and caused consumers reasonable belief that Defendant’s products, including the 

Product, are made with quality materials and safe for their intended purpose.  

5. Defendant formulates, designs, tests, manufactures, markets, advertises, 

distributes, and sells the Product to consumers throughout the United States, including 

in the State of California. 

6. Defendant distributes and sells the Product through various authorized 

retailers in-store and online.  

7. Defendant represents that the Product is safe for its intended use. 

Contrary to Defendant’s representations, however, the Product contains an ingredient 

not listed on its label, benzophenone, at the time of purchase, which increases over 

time as one of its active ingredients, octocrylene, degrades into benzophenone.  

8. Benzophenone is a carcinogen and an endocrine disruptor. 

Benzophenone’s presence in food products or food packaging is banned in the United 

States.1 Under California Proposition 65, there is no safe harbor for benzophenone in 

any personal care products, including sunscreens, anti-aging creams, and 

moisturizers.2 

9. Feasible alternative formulations, designs and materials, such as mineral-

based sunscreen, were available to Defendant at the time the Product was formulated, 

 
1 C. A. Downs, Joseph C. DiNardo, Didier Stien, Alice M. S. Rodrigues, and Philippe Lebaron, Benzophenone 

Accumulates over Time from the Degradation of Octocrylene in Commercial Sunscreen Products, Chemical 

Research in Toxicology, 2021 34 (4), 1046-1054. 

 
2  Id.  
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designed, and manufactured, and such alternative formulations and designs were and 

are used by other manufacturers to produce and sell non-defective sunscreen. 

10. Plaintiffs seek damages and equitable remedies for themselves, and for 

the proposed Classes.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

11. This Court has diversity jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1332(d) because: (1) there are 100 or more putative Class Members, (ii) the 

aggregate amount in controversy exceeds $5,000,000.00, exclusive of interest and 

costs, and (iii) there is minimal diversity because Plaintiffs and Defendant are citizens 

of different states. This Court also has subject matter jurisdiction over this matter 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332.  This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over 

Plaintiffs’ state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

12. This Court has general personal jurisdiction over Defendant because 

Defendant has purposefully availed itself of the privilege of doing business within the 

State of California, including within this District; has had continuous and systematic 

general business contacts within the state, including within this District; and can be 

said to have reasonably anticipated being haled into court in this forum. 

13. This Court has specific personal jurisdiction over Defendant because this 

action arises out of and relates to Defendant’s contacts with this forum. Specifically, 

Defendant knowingly directed the Product through the stream of commerce into this 

District. Defendant has advertised and marketed within this District through the wires 

and mail and via e-commerce websites through which residents of this state and 

District can purchase the Product. Further, Defendant knowingly directs electronic 

activity into this state and District with the intent to engage in business interactions 

and has in fact engaged in such interactions. Moreover, Defendant makes the Product 

available at retailers throughout this District. 

14. In accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 1391, venue is proper in this District 

because a substantial part of the conduct giving rise to Plaintiffs’ claims occurred in 
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this District, Defendant transacts business in this District, and Defendant has 

intentionally availed itself of the laws and markets within this District. 

PARTIES 

A. Plaintiffs 

15. Plaintiff Jonathan Horowitz is a resident and citizen of La Habra, 

California who purchased and used the Product within the relevant time period. 

16. Plaintiff Dalit Cohen is a resident and citizen of Roslyn, New York who 

purchased and used the Product within the relevant time period.  

B. Defendant 

17. Defendant, Neutrogena Corporation (hereinafter “Neutrogena”), is a 

Delaware corporation with its headquarters in California. Neutrogena is authorized to 

do business in New York. As one of the world’s leading brands of skin care, hair care, 

and cosmetics, Neutrogena distributes its products, including the Product, throughout 

the United States. Neutrogena’s line of sunscreen products, including the sunscreen 

purchased by Plaintiffs and Class Members, are available at retail stores throughout 

California and the United States. 

18. Defendant manufactures, markets, advertises, and distributes the Product 

throughout the United States. Defendant created and/or authorized the false, 

misleading, omitting, and deceptive advertisements, packaging, and labeling of the 

Product. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

A. Neutrogena 

19. Neutrogena has been a leader in the cosmetic market since it was founded 

in 1930.3 

20. Neutrogena products are sold at mass market retailers in the United 

States, including Walmart and Target, in addition to being sold online at retailers such 

as Amazon. 

 
3 See https://www.neutrogena.com/the-bar/why-neutrogena.html (last visited Dec. 8, 2021). 
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21. Neutrogena has consistently positioned itself as “the Dermatologist 

Recommended skincare brand[.]”4 

B. Chemical Sunscreen 

22. There are two categories of sunscreen on the market: physical and 

chemical.  

23. Physical sunscreens work by reflecting the UV rays from the sun, 

protecting the skin from the harmful rays. These formulations rely on the use of 

ingredients such as zinc oxide and titanium dioxide to provide this 

protection. Physical sunscreens create a barrier between the skin and the sun and 

aren’t absorbed into the skin.5 

24. Alternatively, chemical-based sunscreen contains various synthetic, 

chemical active ingredients, including octocrylene, which protect the skin by 

absorbing ultraviolet (“UV”) radiation and dissipating it as heat.6  

25. Chemical sunscreens are absorbed into the skin and absorb the harmful 

rays before they can penetrate deep enough to cause damage to the skin.7 

26. The Product’s label shows that it contains 5% octocrylene, which is one 

of its active ingredients: 

 
4 https://www.neutrogena.com/about-us.html (last visited Dec. 8, 2021). 

 
5 See https://thedermreview.com/octocrylene/ (last visited Nov. 30, 2021). 

 
6 See https://thedermreview.com/octocrylene/ (last visited Dec. 8, 2021). 

 
7 Id.  
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27. In contrast with its disclose of octocrylene, Defendant does not disclose 

the existence of, or likelihood of the existence of, benzophenone.  

C. Benzophenone 

28. Benzophenone is a chemical whose presence is banned for food and food 

packaging.     

29. Benzophenone is associated with a wide range of toxicities, including 

genotoxicity, carcinogenicity, and endocrine disruption.8  

 
8 C. A. Downs, Joseph C. DiNardo, Didier Stien, Alice M. S. Rodrigues, and Philippe Lebaron, Benzophenone 

Accumulates over Time from the Degradation of Octocrylene in Commercial Sunscreen Products, Chemical 

Research in Toxicology, 2021 34 (4), 1046-1054. 
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30. Benzophenone is notorious for inducing dermatological pathologies, 

including contact dermatitis, erythema, urticaria, and photoinduced dermatitis.9 

31. In addition, benzophenone is on the Proposition 65 list in California 

because exposure can increase the risk of cancer.10 Indeed, benzophenone has been 

linked with higher rates of leukemia.11  

32. The personal care product industry has known for some time that 

octocrylene is contaminated with benzophenone. When purchasing raw octocrylene 

for sunscreen or personal care product manufacturing, the industry admits that 

benzophenone is a contaminant found in octocrylene and “cannot be removed by its 

entirety when octocrylene is being processed...”12 

D. Studies Show Benzophenone Accumulates and Increases in Octocrylene-

Containing Products 

33. The source of benzophenone in a product arises from two main sources: 

(1) benzophenone contamination in the octocrylene used to manufacture the 

commercial product and (2) accumulation of benzophenone from the degradation of 

octocrylene as the product ages.13 

34. In order to examine the potential degradation of octocrylene in sunscreen 

products, one study tested for benzophenone in seventeen products purchased in 

France and the United States, sixteen of which contained octocrylene.14 The study’s 

authors tested each product upon purchase and again after being subjected to a U.S. 

 
9 Id.  

 
10 https://www.p65warnings.ca.gov/sites/default/files/downloads/factsheets/benzophenone_fact_sheet.pdf 

(last visited Dec. 8, 2021).  

 
11 https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16741556/ (last visited Dec. 8, 2021) 

 
12 Frequently asked questions: benzophenone and octocrylene California Prop 65 ingredients, Rodan + Fields, San 

Francisco, CA. https://www.rodanandfields.com/images/Archives/FAQs_Benzophenone.pdf (last visited Dec. 8, 2021). 

 
13 C. A. Downs, Joseph C. DiNardo, Didier Stien, Alice M. S. Rodrigues, and Philippe Lebaron, 

Benzophenone Accumulates over Time from the Degradation of Octocrylene in Commercial Sunscreen 

Products, Chemical Research in Toxicology, 2021 34 (4), 1046-1054. 

 
14 Id. 

Case 8:21-cv-02090-CJC-JDE   Document 1   Filed 12/16/21   Page 7 of 29   Page ID #:7

https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16741556/


 

 

 

 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 8 

  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

FDA accelerated aging protocol meant to reflect a single year of shelf life. In addition, 

the authors tested two single ingredient sources of octocrylene.  

35. The results revealed that each of the sixteen products containing 

octocrylene also had benzophenone at the time of purchase, and that the level of 

benzophenone grew after aging. In contrast, the product without octocrylene did not 

show any detectable amount of benzophenone at the time of purchase and after aging. 

Furthermore, benzophenone was detected in the pure octocrylene as well.  

36. The results of the study demonstrate that sunscreen products containing 

octocrylene are purchased with demonstrated levels of benzophenone and that the 

octocrylene in sunscreen products further degrades over time and results in higher 

levels of benzophenone.  

37. In a separate study, different authors also examined whether octocrylene-

containing products develop benzophenone over time.15 These authors examined both 

raw octocrylene and thirty-nine skincare products, of which twenty-eight contained 

octocrylene. The study showed that all twenty-eight products containing octocrylene 

had demonstrable levels of benzophenone at the time of purchase, and that the levels 

of benzophenone significantly increased over time. The authors concluded that the 

increased levels of benzophenone was likely due to the degradation of octocrylene.     

38. Further, Plaintiffs commissioned their own independent testing 

performed by a third-party lab. The results of the test found benzophenone in the 

Product.   

E. Defendant’s Representations  

39. Defendant positions itself as a trustworthy, safe, and responsible 

company to consumers. In order to convey this message, Defendant issues several 

principles that guide “Our Safety & Care Commitment” which “reflect your highest 

 
15 Kenn Foubert et al., The presence of benzophenone in sunscreens and cosmetics containing the organic 

UV filter octocrylene: A laboratory study, Contact Dermatitis, July 2021, 69-77 (available at 

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/cod.13845) 
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expectations of us and all that we expect of ourselves.”16 These principles include 

“Safety starts with ingredients”, “Safety never ends”, “Science isn’t set in stone”, and 

“We alone shouldn’t be the last word on safety.”17  

40. Under “Good enough is not enough”, Defendant commits to following 

best practices: “We not only follow individual country regulations, but also look to 

incorporate the best thinking and practices from top authorities for skincare products 

around the world.”18   

41. Under “Safety starts with ingredients”, Defendant describes the “high 

bar” for its ingredients: “Our ingredients are screened for quality, manufacturing 

process, government regulations, published research, and our ingredient safety 

databases.”19 Defendant emphasizes the importance of safety and its ingredients under 

“Safety goes beyond the ingredient list”: “It's also a matter of how our ingredients are 

used, our manufacturing safeguards, how the products are used, and testing 

requirements for our products.”20 

42. Defendant commits to ongoing testing of its products, including the 

Product: “Safety doesn't end with placing the products on the shelf. Our experts are 

continuously monitoring and adjusting the process based on the latest research, 

guidance, regulations, customer, and consumer feedback.”21 Defendant re-emphasizes 

this same point: “we continually check the latest data on our ingredients. When 

necessary we update our products to make sure they are still safe.”22 

 

 
16 https://www.neutrogena.com/producttesting.html (last visited Dec. 8, 2021). 

 
17 Id. 

 
18 Id.   

 
19 Id. 

 
20 Id. 

 
21 Id. 

 
22 Id. 
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43. Defendant’s website further represents that: 

At Neutrogena®, safety is paramount. What we include in our 

products is just as important as what we exclude from them. We 

strive to avoid unnecessary and harsh ingredients and we prioritize 

ingredients that are not only safe for your skin, but also safe for 

the planet, throughout the lifecycle of our products. We are 

committed to ingredient transparency so you can make informed 

decisions for your skin health.23 

44. Despite the representations that Defendant is committed to following 

“best practices”, that they screen their ingredients, adhere to ongoing testing of their 

ingredients, and engage in “ingredient transparency,” nothing on the Product label 

insinuates, states, or warns that the Product contains benzophenone, or that the 

octocrylene in the Product degrades over time and results in an accumulation of 

benzophenone.  

45. Based on its stated commitments, Defendant either knew or should have 

known that the Product contains benzophenone and that the octocrylene in the Product 

degrades and produces an accumulation of benzophenone.   

PLAINTIFFS’ FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

Jonathan Horowitz 

46. Plaintiff Horowitz purchased the Product on or around April 15, 2021, at 

a Walmart store located in Lahabra, California and paid approximately $20.00 for the 

Product.  

47. Nowhere on the packaging did Defendant disclose that the octocrylene 

in the Product degrades over time and results in an accumulation of benzophenone.  

48. Nowhere on the packaging did Defendant disclose that the Product 

contains, or is likely to contain, benzophenone at the time of purchase.  

 
23 See https://www.neutrogena.com/our-promise.html (last visited Dec. 8, 2021).  
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49. If Plaintiff Horowitz had been aware of the existence and accumulation 

of benzophenone in the Product, he would not have purchased the Product or would 

have paid significantly less.  

50. As a result of Defendant’s actions, Plaintiff Horowitz has incurred 

damages, including economic damages.  

Dalit Cohen 

51. Plaintiff Cohen purchased the Product on or around July 1, 2021 at a CVS 

store located at 373 Willis Ave, Roslyn Heights, New York 11577, and paid 

approximately $12.99 for the Product.  

52. Nowhere on the packaging did Defendant disclose that octocrylene in the 

Product degrades over time and results in an accumulation of benzophenone.  

53. Nowhere on the packaging did Defendant disclose that the Product 

contains, or is likely to contain, benzophenone at the time of purchase.  

54. If Plaintiff Cohen had been aware of the existence and accumulation of 

benzophenone in the Product, she would not have purchased the Product or would 

have paid significantly less.  

55. As a result of Defendant’s actions, Plaintiff Cohen has incurred damages, 

including economic damages.  

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

56. Plaintiffs brings this action individually and as representatives of all 

those similarly situated pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, 

on behalf of the below-defined Classes: 

National Class: During the fullest period allowed by law, all persons in 

the United States who purchased the Product for personal use and not for 

resale within the United States. 

California Subclass: During the fullest period allowed by law, all 

persons in the State of California who purchased the Product for personal 

use and not for resale within the State of California. 
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New York Subclass: During the fullest period allowed by law, all 

persons in the State of New York who purchased the Product for personal 

use and not for resale within the State of New York. 

57. Members of the classes described are referred to as “Class Members” or 

members of the “Classes.” 

58. The following are excluded from the Classes: (1) any Judge presiding 

over this action and members of his or her family; (2) Defendant, Defendant’s 

subsidiaries, parents, successors, predecessors, and any entity in which Defendant or 

its parent has a controlling interest (as well as current or former employees, officers, 

and directors); (3) persons who properly execute and file a timely request for exclusion 

from the Class; (4) persons whose claims in this matter have been finally adjudicated 

on the merits or otherwise released; (5) Plaintiffs’ counsel and Defendant’s counsel; 

and (6) the legal representatives, successors, and assigns of any such excluded 

persons. 

59. Certification of Plaintiffs’ claims for class-wide treatment is appropriate 

because Plaintiffs can prove the elements of their claims on a class-wide basis using 

the same evidence as would be used to prove those elements in individual actions 

alleging the same claims. 

60. Numerosity – Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(a)(1). The members 

of the Classes are so numerous that individual joinder of all Class Members is 

impracticable. On information and belief, Class Members number in the thousands to 

millions. The precise number or identification of members of the Classes are presently 

unknown to Plaintiffs but may be ascertained from Defendant’s books and records. 

Class Members may be notified of the pendency of this action by recognized, Court-

approved notice dissemination methods, which may include U.S. mail, electronic 

mail, Internet postings, and/or published notice. 

61. Commonality and Predominance – Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

23(a)(2) and 23(b)(3). Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of 
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the Classes, which predominate over any questions affecting individual members of 

the Classes. These common questions of law or fact include, but are not limited to, the 

following: 

a) Whether the Product contains benzophenone at the time of purchase; 

b) Whether the Product accumulates benzophenone over time; 

c) Whether Defendant omitted or failed to disclose material information 

to Plaintiffs and Class Members regarding the Product; 

d) Whether the Product is defectively designed, formulated, and/or 

manufactured; 

e) Whether Defendant knew or reasonably should have known about the 

harmful level of benzophenone in the Product prior to distributing and 

selling them to Plaintiffs and Class Members; 

f) Whether the marketing, advertising, packaging, labeling, and other 

promotional materials for the Product is deceptive; 

g) Whether Defendant’s actions violate the consumer protection statutes 

invoked herein; 

h) Whether Defendant breached the implied warranty of merchantability 

relating to the Product; 

i) Whether Defendant breached an express warranty to Plaintiffs and 

Class Members;  

j) Whether Defendant was unjustly enriched at the expense of the 

Plaintiffs and Class Members; 

k) Whether Plaintiffs and Class Members are entitled to damages, 

including compensatory, exemplary, and statutory damages, and the 

amount of such damages; 

l) Whether Plaintiffs and the other Class Members have been injured 

and the proper measure of their losses as a result of those injuries; and  

Case 8:21-cv-02090-CJC-JDE   Document 1   Filed 12/16/21   Page 13 of 29   Page ID #:13



 

 

 

 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 14 

  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

m) Whether Plaintiffs and the Class Members are entitled to injunctive, 

declaratory, or other equitable relief.  

62. Defendant engaged in a common course of conduct giving rise to the 

legal rights sought to be enforced by Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the other 

Class Members. Similar or identical statutory and common law violations, business 

practices, and injuries are involved. Individual questions, if any, pale by comparison, 

in both quality and quantity, to the numerous common questions that dominate this 

action. 

63. Typicality – Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(a)(3). Plaintiffs’ 

claims are typical of the claims of the other Class Members, as each class member 

was subject to the same omission of material fact and misrepresentations regarding 

the presence of benzophenone in the Product. Plaintiffs shares the aforementioned 

facts and legal claims or questions with Class Members, and Plaintiffs and all Class 

Members have been similarly affected by Defendant’s common course of conduct 

alleged herein.  Plaintiffs and all Class Members sustained monetary and economic 

injuries including, but not limited to, ascertainable loss arising out of Defendant’s 

deceptive omission of material fact and misrepresentations regarding the presence of 

benzophenone in the Product. 

64. Adequacy of Representation – Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

23(a)(4). Plaintiffs are adequate representatives of the Classes because they are 

members of the Classes and their interests do not conflict with the interests of the 

Class Members they seek to represent. Plaintiffs have also retained counsel competent 

and experienced in complex commercial and class action litigation. Plaintiffs and their 

counsel intend to prosecute this action vigorously for the benefit of all Class Members. 

Accordingly, the interests of the Class Members will be fairly and adequately 

protected by Plaintiffs and their counsel. 

65. Insufficiency of Separate Actions – Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

23(b)(1).  Absent a class action, Class Members will continue to suffer the harm 
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described herein, for which they would have no remedy. Even if separate actions could 

be brought by individual consumers, the resulting multiplicity of lawsuits would cause 

undue burden and expense for both the Court and the litigants, as well as create a risk 

of inconsistent rulings and adjudications that might be dispositive of the interests of 

similarly situated consumers, substantially impeding their ability to protect their 

interests, while establishing incompatible standards of conduct for Defendant. 

Accordingly, the proposed Classes satisfies the requirements of Fed. R. Civ. P. 

23(b)(1). 

66. Declaratory and Injunctive Relief – Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

23(b)(2).  Defendant has acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to 

Plaintiffs and all Members of the Classes, thereby making appropriate final injunctive 

relief and declaratory relief, as described below, with respect to the Classes as a whole. 

67. Superiority – Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b)(3). A class action 

is superior to any other available means for the fair and efficient adjudication of this 

controversy, and no unusual difficulties are likely to be encountered in the 

management of this class action. The damages or other financial detriment suffered 

by Plaintiffs and the Class Members are relatively small compared to the burden and 

expense that would be required to individually litigate their claims against Defendant, 

so it would be impracticable for Class Members to individually seek redress for 

Defendant’s wrongful conduct. Even if Class Members could afford individual 

litigation, the court system could not. Individualized litigation creates a potential for 

inconsistent or contradictory judgments and increases the delay and expense to all 

parties and the court system. By contrast, the class action device presents far fewer 

management difficulties, and provides the benefits of single adjudication, economy of 

scale, and comprehensive supervision by a single court. 
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COUNT I 

Violation of the California’s Consumer Legal Remedies Act (“CLRA”) 

California Business and Professions Code §§ 1750, et seq. 

(Plaintiff Horowitz Individually and on Behalf of the California Subclass) 

68. Plaintiff Horowitz hereby re-alleges and incorporates all allegations 

contained in the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

69. Defendant’s conduct constitutes violations under California’s Consumer 

Legal Remedies Act, Cal. Civ. Code § 1750, et seq. The CLRA proscribes “unfair 

methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices undertaken by any 

person in a transaction intended to result or which results in the sale or lease of goods 

or services to any consumer.” 

70. Defendant’s conduct falls within the meaning of this statute because it 

caused transactions to occur resulting in the sale or lease of goods or services to 

consumers – namely, the sale of the Product to Plaintiff Horowitz and the California 

Subclass. Sunscreens are considered goods within the meaning of the statute under 

Civil Code § 1761(a) and Defendant’s sale of the Product is considered a service under 

Civil Code § 1761(b). 

71. Plaintiff Horowitz and California Subclass Members are consumers 

pursuant to the CLRA. 

72. Defendant violated the CLRA by way of the following provisions: 

• In violation of Civil Code § 1770(a)(5), Defendant represented (and 

continue to represent) that its goods have characteristics which they do 

not have – that, in exchange for each payment, Plaintiff Horowitz and the 

members of the Class receive sunscreen which is functioning as intended 

and which is not contaminated with benzophenone; 

• In violation of Civil Code § 1770(a)(14), Defendant represented (and 

continue to represent) that a consumer has rights, remedies and/or 

obligations which they did not have – that Plaintiff Horowitz and 

members of the Class receive sunscreen which is functioning as intended 

Case 8:21-cv-02090-CJC-JDE   Document 1   Filed 12/16/21   Page 16 of 29   Page ID #:16



 

 

 

 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 17 

  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

and which is not contaminated with benzophenone, and that Defendant 

is capable of correcting defects when it is not; 

73. Defendant also engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts 

or practices in violation of Civil Code § 1770(a)(5) and (a)(7) when it represented 

through its advertising, warranties, and other express representations that the Product 

has benefits or characteristics that it did not actually have, namely that the Product 

was safe to use and failing to disclose that the Product was contaminated 

benzophenone. 

74. Defendant is aware that its representations are false and misleading – 

specifically, Defendant continued to sell the Product into the stream of commerce even 

after it had knowledge that the Product was contaminated with benzophenone. 

75. Plaintiff Horowitz and California Subclass have suffered injury-in-fact 

and actual damages resulting from Defendant’s omissions and misrepresentations 

because Defendant knew that the Product was contaminated with benzophenone. 

76. On December 14, 2021, prior to the filing of this Complaint, Plaintiff 

Horowitz and Class Members put Defendant on written notice of their claims arising 

from violations of numerous provisions of California law, including the California 

Consumers Legal Remedies Act (“CLRA”), California Civil Code § 1770, et seq., as 

well as other causes of action.  Plaintiff Horowitz will amend his Complaint to add 

claims for monetary damages if Neutrogena fails to take the corrective actions. 

77. Plaintiff Horowitz’s declaration stating facts showing that venue in this 

District is proper pursuant to Cal. Civ. Code § 1780(c) is attached hereto as Exhibit 

A. 

78. In accordance with Civil Code § 1780(a), Plaintiff Horowitz and the 

other California Subclass Members seek injunctive and equitable relief for 

Defendant’s violations of the CLRA, including an injunction to enjoin Defendant from 

continuing its deceptive advertising and sales practices.  
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79. Pursuant to California Civil Code § 1780(a)(1)-(5) and § 1780(e), 

Plaintiff Horowitz seeks an order enjoining Defendant from the unlawful practices 

described above, a declaration that Defendant’s conduct violates the Consumers Legal 

Remedies Act, reasonable attorneys’ fees and litigation costs, and any other relief the 

Court deems proper under the CLRA. 

80. Plaintiff Horowitz and the California Subclass Members’ injuries were 

proximately caused by Defendant’s fraudulent business practices. 

81. Therefore, Plaintiff Horowitz and California Subclass Members are 

entitled to relief under the CLRA. 

COUNT II 

Violation of the California False Advertising Law (“FAL”) 

California Business and Professions Code §§ 17500, et seq. 

(Plaintiff Horowitz Individually and on Behalf of the California Subclass) 

82. Plaintiff Horowitz hereby re-alleges and incorporates all allegations 

contained in the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

83. Plaintiff Horowitz brings this cause of action against Defendant 

individually and on behalf of the California Class. 

84. The conduct described herein took place within the state of California 

and constitutes deceptive or false advertising in violation of California Business and 

Professions Code §§ 17500, et seq. 

85. California Business and Professions Code §§ 17500, et seq. prohibits 

deceptive or misleading practices in connection with advertising or representations 

made for the purpose of inducing, or which are likely to induce, consumers to purchase 

products.  

86. Defendant, when it marketed, advertised, and sold the Product, 

represented to Plaintiff Horowitz and California Subclass Members that the Product 

was free of defects and safe, despite the fact that the Product was defective and unsafe.  
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87. At the time of their misrepresentations and/or omissions, Defendant was 

either aware that the Product was defective and unsafe, or was aware that it lacked the 

information and/or knowledge required to make such a representation truthfully. 

Defendant concealed, omitted, and failed to disclose this information to Plaintiff 

Horowitz and California Subclass Members.  

88. Defendant’s descriptions of the Product were false, misleading, and 

likely to deceive Plaintiffs and other reasonable consumers. 

89. Defendant’s conduct therefore constitutes deceptive or misleading 

advertising.  

90. Plaintiff has standing to pursue claims under the FAL as he reasonably 

reviewed and relied on Defendant’s packaging, advertising, representations, and 

marketing materials regarding the Product, when selecting and purchasing the 

Product.  

91. In reliance on the statements made in Defendant’s advertising and 

marketing materials, and Defendant’s omissions and concealment of material facts 

regarding the quality and use of the Product, Plaintiff Horowitz and California 

Subclass Members purchased the Product. 

92. Had Defendant disclosed the true defective nature of the Product, 

Plaintiff and California Subclass Members would not have purchased the Product or 

would have paid substantially less for it. 

93. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s actions, as set forth 

herein, Defendant has received ill-gotten gains and/or profits, including but not 

limited to money from Plaintiff Horowitz and California Subclass Members who paid 

for the Product.  

94. Plaintiff Horowitz and California Subclass Members seek injunctive 

relief, restitution, and disgorgement of any monies wrongfully acquired or retained by 

Defendant and by means of their deceptive or misleading representations, including 
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monies already obtained from Plaintiff and California Class Members as provided for 

by the California Business and Professions Code §§ 17500, et seq.  

 

COUNT III 

Violations of The California Unfair Competition Law (“UCL”),  

Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200, et seq. 

(Plaintiff Horowitz Individually and on Behalf of the California Subclass) 

95. Plaintiffs hereby re-alleges and incorporates all allegations contained in 

the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

96. Plaintiff Horowitz brings this cause of action against Defendant 

individually and on behalf of the California Class. 

97. Defendant is a “person” as defined by Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17201. 

98. Plaintiff Horowitz and California Class Members who purchased 

Defendant’s Product suffered an injury by virtue of buying defective sunscreen 

products in which Defendant misrepresented and/or omitted the Product’s true quality, 

reliability, safety, and use.   

99. Had Plaintiff Horowitz and California Class Members known that 

Defendant materially misrepresented the Product and/or omitted material information 

regarding its defective Product and its safety, which contains benzophenone, they 

would not have purchased the Product.  

100. Defendant’s conduct, as alleged herein, violates the laws and public 

policies of California and the federal government, as set out in the preceding 

paragraphs of this complaint. 

101. There is no benefit to consumers or competition by allowing Defendant 

to deceptively label, market, and advertise its Product. 

102. Plaintiff Horowitz and California Class Members who purchased 

Defendant’s Product had no way of reasonably knowing that the Product was 

deceptively packaged, marketed, advertised, and labeled, was defective, not safe, and 

unsuitable for its intended use.  Thus, Plaintiff Horowitz and California Subclass 

Members could not have reasonably avoided the harm they suffered. 
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103. The above acts of Defendant, in disseminating said misleading and 

deceptive statements to consumers throughout the state of California, including to 

Plaintiff Horowitz and California Class Members, were and are likely to deceive 

reasonable consumers by obfuscating and omitting the true defective nature of 

Defendant’s Product, and thus were violations of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17500, et 

seq. 

104. As a result of Defendant’s above unlawful, unfair and fraudulent acts and 

practices, Plaintiff Horowitz, on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated, 

and as appropriate, on behalf of the general public, seeks injunctive relief prohibiting 

Defendant from continuing these wrongful practices, and such other equitable relief, 

including full restitution of all improper revenues and ill-gotten profits derived from 

Defendant’s wrongful conduct to the fullest extent permitted by law.  

105. Mislabeled cosmetics cannot legally be manufactured, held, advertised, 

distributed, or sold.  Thus, mislabeled cosmetics have no economic value and are 

worthless as a matter of law, and purchasers of mislabeled cosmetics are entitled to a 

restitution refund of the purchase price of the mislabeled cosmetics. 

 

COUNT IV 

Violation of New York General Business Law § 349 

(Plaintiff Cohen Individually and on Behalf of the New York Subclass) 

 

106. Plaintiff Cohen hereby re-alleges and incorporates all allegations 

contained in the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.  

107. N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 349 prohibits “[d]eceptive acts or practices in the 

conduct of any business, trade or commerce or in the furnishing of any service[.]” 

108. Defendant’s actions occurred in the conduct of business, trade, or 

commerce. 

109. Defendant’s conduct, as described in this Complaint, constitutes 

“deceptive acts or practices” within the meaning of the N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law.   
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110. Defendant’s deceptive acts and practices were intended to mislead 

consumers in a material way in the process of purchasing Defendant’s Product, and a 

reasonable consumer would be misled by their deceptive acts and practices. 

111. All of Defendant’s deceptive acts and practices constitute conduct 

directed at consumers. 

112. Defendant intended that Plaintiff Cohen and each of the other members 

of the New York Subclass would rely upon its deceptive conduct and false advertising, 

and consumers, including Plaintiff Cohen and putative New York Subclass Members, 

did in fact rely upon deceptive conduct. 

113. Defendant’s foregoing deceptive and unfair acts and practices, including 

its omissions, were and are deceptive acts or practices in violation of the N.Y. Gen. 

Bus. Law § 349, in that Defendant manufactured, labeled, packaged, marketed, 

advertised, distributed, and/or sold the Product without any mention of the fact that 

the Product contains the carcinogen benzophenone. 

114. Defendant’s unconscionable, deceptive, and/or unfair practices caused 

actual damages to Plaintiff Cohen and the New York Subclass Members, who were 

unaware that the Product contained benzophenone. 

115. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s deceptive acts and 

practices, including its omissions, Plaintiff Cohen and New York Subclass Members 

have been damaged as alleged herein and are thus entitled to recover actual damages 

to the extent permitted by law in an amount to be proven at trial. 

116. In addition, Plaintiff Cohen and New York Subclass Members seek 

equitable and injunctive relief against Defendant on terms that the Court considers 

reasonable, in addition to reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. 

117. In addition, Defendant’s conduct showed malice, motive, and the 

reckless disregard of the truth such that an award of punitive damages is appropriate. 
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COUNT V 

Violation of New York General Business Laws § 350 

(Plaintiff Cohen Individually and on Behalf of the New York Subclass) 

 

118. Plaintiff Cohen hereby re-alleges and incorporates all allegations 

contained in the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.  

119. N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 350 prohibits “[f]alse advertising in the conduct 

of any business, trade or commerce or in the furnishing of any service[.]” 

120. Defendant’s actions occurred in the conduct of business, trade, or 

commerce. 

121. Defendant’s foregoing acts and practices, including their advertising, 

were directed at consumers. 

122. Defendant’s conduct, as described in the Complaint, constitutes “false 

advertising” within the meaning of the N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 350, as Defendant 

publicly disseminating misleading false advertisements through advertising and 

marketing the Product, failing to disclose that the Product contains benzophenone, a 

known carcinogen. 

123. Defendant’s foregoing, consumer-oriented, unfair or deceptive acts and 

practices, including its advertising, representations, and omissions, constitutes false 

and misleading advertising in a material way in violation of the N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law 

§ 350. 

124. Defendant’s false, misleading, and deceptive advertising and 

representations include misrepresenting and misleadingly marketing and labeling the 

Product was fit for its intended purpose of safely protection against ultraviolet rays 

and failing to disclose that the Product contains the carcinogen benzophenone. 

125. Defendant’s false, misleading, and deceptive advertising and 

representations of fact were and are directed at consumers. 
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126. Defendant’s false, misleading, and deceptive advertising and 

representations of fact were and are likely to mislead a reasonable consumer acting 

reasonably under the circumstances. 

127. Defendant’s false, misleading, and deceptive advertising and 

representations of fact have resulted in consumer injury or harm to the public interest. 

128. Defendant intended that Plaintiff Cohen and the other members of the 

New York Subclass would rely upon their deceptive conduct and false advertising, 

and a reasonable person would in fact be misled by this deceptive conduct. Defendant 

engaged in misleading and deceptive advertising that failed to disclose that the 

Product contains benzophenone.  Defendant chose to label the Product in this way to 

impact consumer choices and gain market dominance, as it is aware that all consumers 

who purchased the Product would be unwilling or less likely to buy the Product if 

those consumers knew the Product contained benzophenone, a harmful carcinogen 

known to cause cancer.  Thus, Defendant’s advertising and labeling was an unfair, 

untrue, and misleading practice.  

129. Consumers, including Plaintiff Cohen and New York Subclass members 

either would not have purchased the Product or would have paid less for them had the 

known that the Product contains benzophenone. 

130. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s deceptive acts and 

practices, including its use or employment of false advertising, Plaintiff Cohen and 

each of the other members of the New York Subclass have sustained actual damages 

in an amount to be proven at trial. 

131. In addition, Plaintiff Cohen and New York Subclass members seek 

equitable and injunctive relief against Defendant on terms that the Court considers 

reasonable, in addition to reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. 

132. In addition, Defendant’s conduct showed malice, motive, and the 

reckless disregard of the truth such that an award of punitive damages is appropriate. 
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COUNT VI 

Breach of Express Warranty  

(On Behalf of Plaintiffs Individually, the National Class and, 

Alternatively, the California and New York Subclasses) 

133. Plaintiffs hereby re-alleges and incorporates all allegations contained in 

the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

134. Plaintiffs, and each member of the National Class, formed a contract with 

Defendant at the time Plaintiffs and each member of the National Class purchased the 

Product. 

135. The terms of the contract include the promises and affirmations of fact 

made by Defendant on the Product’s packaging and through marketing and 

advertising, as described above. 

136. This labeling, marketing, and advertising constitute express warranties 

and became part of the basis of the bargain and are part of the standardized contract 

between Plaintiffs and the members of the National Class and Defendant. 

137. As set forth above, Defendant purports through its advertising, labeling, 

marketing, and packaging, to create an express warranty that the Product is safe for 

its intended use.  

138. Plaintiffs and the members of the National Class performed all conditions 

precedent to Defendant’s liability under this contract when they purchased the 

Product. 

139. Defendant breached express warranties about the Product and its 

qualities because Defendant’s Product contained the harmful chemical benzophenone 

at the time of purchase and the chemical octocrylene which degrades over time 

resulting in an accumulation of benzophenone and the Product does not conform to 

Defendant’s affirmations and promises described above. 

140. Plaintiffs and each of the members of the National Class would not have 

purchased the Product had they known the true nature of the harmful chemicals in the 

Product. 
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141. As a result of Defendant’s breach of warranty, Plaintiffs and each of the 

members of the National Class have been damaged in the amount of the purchase price 

of the Product and any consequential damages resulting from their purchases. 

COUNT VII 

Breach of Implied Warranty  

(On Behalf of Plaintiffs Individually, the National Class and, 

Alternatively, the California and New York Subclasses) 

142. Plaintiffs hereby re-alleges and incorporates all allegations contained in 

the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

143. Defendant provided Plaintiffs and Class Members with implied 

warranties that the Product was merchantable and fit for the ordinary purposes for 

which it was sold, i.e., that it was free of benzophenone.  

144. Defendant marketed, sold, and/or distributed the Product, and Plaintiffs 

and other Class Members purchased the Product. 

145. Plaintiffs bring this claim for breach of the implied warranty of 

merchantability on behalf of themselves and other consumers who purchased the 

Product with the expectation of the Product not containing the dangerous chemical 

benzophenone. 

146. The Defendant has breached the implied warranties of merchantability 

that it made to Plaintiffs and the prospective Class. For example, Defendant impliedly 

warranted that the Product was free from defects, that it was merchantable, and that it 

was fit for the ordinary purpose for which sunscreen is used.  

147. When sold by Defendant, the Product was not merchantable, did not pass 

without objection in the trade, was not of adequate quality within that description, was 

not fit for the ordinary purposes for which such goods are used, and did not conform 

to the promises or affirmations of fact made on the container or label. 

148. As a result of Defendant’s breaches of implied warranties, Class 

members did not receive the benefit of their bargain and suffered damages at the point 
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of sale stemming from their overpayment for the Product that contained 

benzophenone.  

149. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s breach of the warranties 

of merchantability, Plaintiffs and the other Class Members have been damaged in an 

amount to be proven at trial. 

COUNT VIII 

Unjust Enrichment  

(In the Alternative and on Behalf of Plaintiffs, the National Class and, 

Alternatively, the California and New York Subclasses) 

150. Plaintiffs hereby re-alleges and incorporates all allegations contained in 

the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

151. Plaintiffs and the other members of the National Class conferred benefits 

on Defendant by purchasing the Product. 

152. Defendant has been unjustly enriched in retaining the revenues derived 

from the purchase of the Product by Plaintiffs and the other members of the National 

Class. 

153. Retention of those monies under these circumstances is unjust and 

inequitable because Defendant’s labeling of the Product was misleading to consumers, 

which caused injuries to Plaintiffs and the other members of the National Class 

because they would have not purchased the Product if Defendant’s had disclosed that 

the Product contained harmful chemicals. 

154. Because Defendant’s retention of the non-gratuitous benefits conferred 

on it by Plaintiffs and the other members of the National Class is unjust and 

inequitable, Defendant must pay restitution to Plaintiffs and the other members of the 

National Class for its unjust enrichment, as ordered by the Court. 

 

JURY DEMAND 

155. Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 38(b), Plaintiffs demand a 

trial by jury of all claims in this Complaint so triable. 
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REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, individually and on behalf of the Class Members, 

pray for judgment and relief against Defendant as follows:  

a) For an order declaring: (i) this is a class action pursuant to Rule 23 of the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the proposed Classes 

described herein; and (ii) appointing Plaintiffs to serve as representatives for 

the Classes and Plaintiffs’ counsel to serve as Class Counsel; 

b) For an order enjoining Defendant from continuing to engage in the unlawful 

conduct set forth herein;  

c) For an order awarding restitution of the monies Defendant wrongfully 

acquired by its illegal and deceptive conduct;  

d) For an order requiring disgorgement of the monies Defendant wrongfully 

acquired by its illegal and deceptive conduct;  

e) For compensatory and punitive damages, including actual and statutory 

damages, arising from Defendant’s wrongful conduct and illegal conduct; 

f) For an award of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs and expenses incurred 

in the course of prosecuting this action; and 

g) For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

 

 

Dated: December 16, 2021   Respectfully submitted, 

       By: 

   

MILBERG COLEMAN BRYSON  

     PHILLIPS GROSSMAN PLLC 

 

/s/ Alex R. Straus  

  Alex R. Straus, Esq. (SBN 321366) 

     280 South Beverly Place 

     Beverly Hills, CA 90212 
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     Tel.: (917) 471-1894 

     Fax: (310) 496-3176 

     Email: astraus@milberg.com  

 

Nick Suciu, III* 

nsuciu@milberg.com 

MILBERG COLEMAN BRYSON 

PHILLIPS GROSSMAN, PLLC 

6905 Telegraph Rd., Suite 115 

Bloomfield Hills, MI 48301 

Tel.: (313) 303-3472 

Fax: (865) 522-0049 

 

Jennifer Czeisler* 

Russell Busch* 

Virginia Ann Whitener* 

jczeisler@milberg.com 

rbusch@milberg.com 

gwhitener@milberg.com 

MILBERG COLEMAN BRYSON 

PHILLIPS GROSSMAN, PLLC 

800 S. Gay Street, Suite 1100 

Knoxville, TN 37929 

Tel.: (865) 247-0080 

Fax: (865) 522-0049 

 

* Pro Hac Vice Application forthcoming 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT, CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA  
CIVIL COVER SHEET

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS  ( Check box if you are representing yourself   DEFENDANTS        (

(c) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address and Telephone Number)  If you are 
representing yourself, provide the same information.

II.  BASIS OF JURISDICTION (Place an X in one box only.)

1. U.S. Government 
Plaintiff

3. Federal Question (U.S.  
Government Not a Party)

2. U.S. Government 
Defendant

4. Diversity (Indicate Citizenship 
of Parties in Item III)

III. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES-For Diversity Cases Only
(Place an X in one box for plaintiff and one for defendant)

Citizen of This State

Citizen or Subject of a  
Foreign Country

Citizen of Another State

PTF DEF
1 1

3

2

3

Incorporated or Principal Place  
of Business in this State
Incorporated and Principal Place 
of Business in Another State

Foreign Nation

DEFPTF
4 4

5 5

66

2

IV. ORIGIN (Place an X in one box only.)
 1. Original  
     Proceeding

2. Removed from  
    State Court

3. Remanded from
    Appellate Court

4. Reinstated or 
    Reopened

6. Multidistrict 
     Litigation - 
     Transfer

V. REQUESTED IN COMPLAINT:  JURY DEMAND: Yes No (Check "Yes" only if demanded in complaint.)

CLASS ACTION under F.R.Cv.P. 23: No MONEY DEMANDED IN COMPLAINT:     Yes
VI. CAUSE OF ACTION (Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing and write a brief statement of cause.  Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity.)

VII. NATURE OF SUIT (Place an X in one box only).
CONTRACT

TORTS 
PERSONAL INJURY

PRISONER PETITIONS

LABOR

REAL PROPERTY

IMMIGRATION

BANKRUPTCY

CIVIL RIGHTS

FORFEITURE/PENALTY

PROPERTY RIGHTS

SOCIAL SECURITY

FEDERAL TAX SUITS

375  False Claims Act

400  State  
Reapportionment
410  Antitrust

430  Banks and Banking 

490  Cable/Sat TV

480  Consumer Credit

460  Deportation

896  Arbitration

895  Freedom of Info. 
Act

893  Environmental 
Matters

891  Agricultural Acts

899  Admin. Procedures 
Act/Review of Appeal of 
Agency Decision  

450  Commerce/ICC    
Rates/Etc.

470  Racketeer Influ- 
enced & Corrupt Org.

850  Securities/Com- 
modities/Exchange
890  Other Statutory 
Actions

110 Insurance

120 Marine

130 Miller Act
140 Negotiable   
Instrument
150 Recovery of    
Overpayment & 
Enforcement of 
Judgment

151 Medicare Act

152 Recovery of  
Defaulted Student 
Loan (Excl. Vet.)

153 Recovery of  
Overpayment of 
Vet. Benefits

160 Stockholders'   
 Suits

190 Other 
Contract   
 195 Contract  
Product Liability
196 Franchise

210 Land 
Condemnation
220 Foreclosure

230 Rent Lease & 
Ejectment

REAL PROPERTY CONT.
240 Torts to Land

245 Tort Product  
Liability
290 All Other Real 
Property

310 Airplane
315 Airplane 
Product Liability
320 Assault, Libel & 
Slander 
330 Fed. Employers' 
Liability 

340 Marine
345 Marine Product 
Liability

350 Motor Vehicle
355 Motor Vehicle 
Product Liability
360 Other Personal 
Injury
362  Personal Injury-
Med Malpratice
365 Personal Injury-
Product Liability
367 Health Care/
Pharmaceutical 
Personal Injury 
Product Liability
368 Asbestos 
Personal Injury 
Product Liability

950  Constitutionality of 
State Statutes 

462 Naturalization 
Application

465 Other 
Immigration Actions

370 Other Fraud

371 Truth in Lending

380 Other Personal 
Property Damage

385 Property Damage 
Product Liability  

422 Appeal 28  
USC 158
423 Withdrawal 28     
USC 157

441 Voting

442 Employment
443 Housing/
Accommodations
445 American with 
Disabilities-
Employment
446 American with 
Disabilities-Other

440 Other Civil Rights

448 Education

510 Motions to Vacate 
Sentence 
530 General
535 Death Penalty

540 Mandamus/Other

550 Civil Rights

555 Prison Condition

560 Civil Detainee 
Conditions of 
Confinement

625 Drug Related 
Seizure of Property 21 
USC 881
690 Other

710 Fair Labor Standards   
Act
720 Labor/Mgmt. 
Relations

740 Railway Labor Act

751 Family and Medical 
Leave Act
790 Other Labor 
Litigation
791 Employee Ret. Inc. 
Security Act

820 Copyrights

830 Patent

835 Patent - Abbreviated 
New Drug Application

861 HIA (1395ff)

862 Black Lung (923)

863 DIWC/DIWW (405 (g))

864 SSID Title XVI

865 RSI (405 (g))

870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff or 
Defendant)
871 IRS-Third Party 26 USC 
7609

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY:    

Habeas Corpus:
463 Alien Detainee

  Other:

)

 5. Transferred from Another 
      District  (Specify)

OTHER STATUTES 

TORTS 
PERSONAL PROPERTY

Check box if you are representing yourself   

Attorneys (Firm Name, Address and Telephone Number)  If you are  
representing yourself, provide the same information.

)

$
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(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff County of Residence of First Listed Defendant
(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES) (IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)

Case Number:

376 Qui Tam  
(31 USC 3729(a))

8. Multidistrict 
     Litigation - 
     Direct File

840 Trademark
880 Defend Trade Secrets Act 
of 2016 (DTSA)

485 Telephone 
Consumer Protection Act

Alex R. Straus Milberg Coleman Bryson Phillips Grossman, PLLC
280 S Beverly Drive
Beverly Hills, CA 90212

28 U.S.C. 1332 Products contain a known carcinogen and endocrine disruptor. 

Neutrogena CorporationJonathan Horowitz and Dalit Cohen

Orange
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VIII.   VENUE:  Your answers to the questions below will determine the division of the Court to which this case will be initially assigned.  This initial assignment is subject 
to change, in accordance with the Court's General Orders, upon review by the Court of your Complaint or Notice of Removal.

QUESTION A:   Was this case removed 
from state court? 
                          
  
If "no, " skip to Question B.  If "yes," check the 
box to the right that applies, enter the  
corresponding division in response to  
Question E, below, and continue from there.

NoYes

STATE CASE WAS PENDING IN THE COUNTY OF: INITIAL DIVISION IN CACD IS:

Los Angeles, Ventura, Santa Barbara, or San Luis Obispo

Orange

Riverside or San Bernardino

Western

Southern

Eastern

QUESTION B:   Is the United States, or 
one of its agencies or employees, a 
PLAINTIFF in this action? 
  
  
          
  
If "no, " skip to Question C.  If "yes," answer 
Question B.1, at right.

NoYes NO.  Continue to Question B.2.

YES.  Your case will initially be assigned to the Eastern Division.  
Enter "Eastern" in response to Question E, below, and continue 
from there.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT, CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA  
CIVIL COVER SHEET

YES.  Your case will initially be assigned to the Southern Division. 
Enter "Southern" in response to Question E, below, and continue 
from there.

A.  
  

Orange County

B. 
Riverside or San 

Bernardino County

Indicate the location(s) in which 50% or more of plaintiffs who reside in this district 
reside.  (Check up to two boxes, or leave blank if none of these choices apply.)

Indicate the location(s) in which 50% or more of defendants who reside in this 
district reside.  (Check up to two boxes, or leave blank if none of these choices 
apply.)

D.1.  Is there at least one answer in Column A? D.2.  Is there at least one answer in Column B?

If "yes," your case will initially be assigned to the  

SOUTHERN DIVISION. 

 Enter "Southern" in response to Question E,  below, and continue from there. 

 If "no," go to question D2 to the right. 

QUESTION E: Initial Division? 

Enter the initial division determined by Question A, B, C, or D above:

INITIAL DIVISION IN CACD

QUESTION D:  Location of plaintiffs and defendants?

If "yes," your case will initially be assigned to the  

EASTERN DIVISION. 

 Enter "Eastern" in response to Question E,  below. 

 If "no," your case will be assigned to the WESTERN DIVISION.   

Enter "Western" in response to Question E, below. 

Yes No Yes No

NO.  Your case will initially be assigned to the Western Division.  
Enter "Western" in response to Question E, below, and continue 
from there.

QUESTION C:   Is the United States, or 
one of its agencies or employees, a 
DEFENDANT in this action? 
  
  
          
  
If "no, " skip to Question D.  If "yes," answer 
Question C.1, at right.

Yes No

B.1.  Do 50% or more of the defendants who reside in 
the district reside in Orange Co.? 
  
check one of the boxes to the right

B.2.  Do 50% or more of the defendants who reside in 
the district reside in Riverside and/or San Bernardino 
Counties?  (Consider the two counties together.) 
  
check one of the boxes to the right

C.1.  Do 50% or more of the plaintiffs who reside in the 
district reside in Orange Co.? 
  
check one of the boxes to the right

C.2.  Do 50% or more of the plaintiffs who reside in the 
district reside in Riverside and/or San Bernardino 
Counties?  (Consider the two counties together.) 
  
check one of the boxes to the right

YES.  Your case will initially be assigned to the Southern Division. 
Enter "Southern" in response to Question E, below, and continue 
from there.

NO.  Continue to Question C.2.

YES.  Your case will initially be assigned to the Eastern Division.  
Enter "Eastern" in response to Question E, below, and continue 
from there.

NO.  Your case will initially be assigned to the Western Division.  
Enter "Western" in response to Question E, below, and continue 
from there.

C.  
Los Angeles, Ventura, 
Santa Barbara, or San 
Luis Obispo County

QUESTION F: Northern Counties?

Do 50% or more of plaintiffs or defendants in this district reside in Ventura, Santa Barbara, or San Luis Obispo counties? Yes No

SOUTHERN
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IX(a).  IDENTICAL CASES:  Has this action been previously filed in this court?    
  
        

NO YES

IX(b). RELATED CASES:  Is this case related (as defined below) to any civil or criminal case(s) previously filed in this court? 

NO YES

Civil cases are related when they (check all that apply): 

Notice to Counsel/Parties:  The submission of this Civil Cover Sheet is required by Local Rule 3-1.  This Form CV-71 and the information contained herein 
neither replaces nor supplements the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court.  For 
more detailed instructions, see separate instruction sheet (CV-071A).

Key to Statistical codes relating to Social Security Cases:

861       HIA  

862       BL  

863       DIWW  

863       DIWC  

864       SSID  

865       RSI  

Nature of Suit Code      Abbreviation  Substantive Statement of Cause of Action
All claims for health insurance benefits (Medicare) under Title 18, Part A, of the Social Security Act, as amended.  Also, 
include claims by hospitals, skilled nursing facilities, etc., for certification as providers of services under the program.  
(42 U.S.C. 1935FF(b))

All claims for "Black Lung" benefits under Title 4, Part B, of the Federal Coal Mine Health and Safety Act of 1969. (30 U.S.C. 
923)

All claims filed by insured workers for disability insurance benefits under Title 2 of the Social Security Act, as amended; plus 
all claims filed for child's insurance benefits based on disability.  (42 U.S.C. 405 (g))

All claims filed for widows or widowers insurance benefits based on disability under Title 2 of the Social Security Act, as 
amended. (42 U.S.C. 405 (g))

All claims for supplemental security income payments based upon disability filed under Title 16 of the Social Security Act, as 
amended.

All claims for retirement (old age) and survivors benefits under Title 2 of the Social Security Act, as amended.   
(42 U.S.C. 405 (g))

If yes, list case number(s):

If yes, list case number(s):  

DATE:
X.  SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY  
(OR SELF-REPRESENTED LITIGANT): 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT, CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA  
CIVIL COVER SHEET

A.  Arise from the same or a closely related transaction, happening, or event;

B.  Call for determination of the same or substantially related or similar questions of law and fact; or

C.  For other reasons would entail substantial duplication of labor if heard by different judges.

Note:  That cases may involve the same patent, trademark, or copyright is not, in itself, sufficient to deem cases related.  

A.  Arise from the same or a closely related transaction, happening, or event;

B.  Call for determination of the same or substantially related or similar questions of law and fact; or

A civil forfeiture case and a criminal case are related when they (check all that apply):

C.  Involve one or more defendants from the criminal case in common and would entail substantial duplication of 
labor if heard by different judges.

12/16/2021/s/ Alex Straus
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 
 

 

JONATHAN HOROWITZ and 

DALIT COHEN, individually and 

on behalf of all others similarly 

situated, 

 

   Plaintiffs, 

 

 v. 

 

NEUTROGENA CORPORATION, 

 

   Defendants. 
 

 Case No.: __________________ 

 

 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

 

 

Jury Trial Demanded 
 

  

 

 

CLRA Venue Declaration Pursuant to California Civil Code Section 1780(d) 

I, Jonathan Horowitz, declare as follows:  

1. I am named plaintiff in the above-captioned litigation. 

2. I have personal knowledge of the matters set forth below except to those 

matters stated herein which are based on information and belief, which matters I 

believe to be true. 

3. If called as a witness, I could and would competently testify to the 

matters included herein. 

4. I reside in La Habra, California. 
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CRLA VENUE DECLARATION 
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19 
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23 
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25 

26 

27 
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5. I am informed and believe that venue is proper in this Court under Civil 

Code 1780(d) because Defendants are doing business in this District, and a 

substantial portion of the events or omissions at issue occurred in this District. 

 I declare under the penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California 

and the United States that the foregoing is true and correct and that this declaration 

was executed on December 15, 2021 in La Habra, California.  

 

  

       Jonathan Horowitz 

Jonathan Horowitz
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Signature:

Email:
Jonathan Horowitz (Dec 15, 2021 18:55 PST)

horowitz11@gmail.com
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Neutrogena - Jonathan Horowitz CRLA Venue
Declaration
Final Audit Report 2021-12-16

Created: 2021-12-15

By: Gregory Coleman (rpothier@milberg.com)

Status: Signed

Transaction ID: CBJCHBCAABAAX3bjYCrShMHkLcb43xeqvrw_g4evWXM8

"Neutrogena  - Jonathan Horowitz CRLA Venue Declaration" His
tory

Document created by Gregory Coleman (rpothier@milberg.com)
2021-12-15 - 9:28:51 PM GMT- IP address: 99.10.78.141

Document emailed to Jonathan Horowitz (horowitz11@gmail.com) for signature
2021-12-15 - 9:29:53 PM GMT

Email viewed by Jonathan Horowitz (horowitz11@gmail.com)
2021-12-16 - 2:51:34 AM GMT- IP address: 66.249.84.223

Document e-signed by Jonathan Horowitz (horowitz11@gmail.com)
Signature Date: 2021-12-16 - 2:55:04 AM GMT - Time Source: server- IP address: 45.50.8.227

Agreement completed.
2021-12-16 - 2:55:04 AM GMT
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